
Date Published:23 July 2019     

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday 31 July 2019 at 10.00 am

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

ORGANISATION ITEMS

1  APOLOGIES Stephen Bace

2  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 8) Stephen Bace

3  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS Stephen Bace

SCRUTINY ITEMS

4  ONE PUBLIC ESTATE (Pages 9 - 44)

To receive details of the One Public Estate (OPE).

Neil Corbett

INFORMATION ITEMS

 Revenue and Capital Expenditure 2018-19 Outturn Report

 Finance update for end of May 2019

Membership –  Cllr Robert Bird, Cllr Kevin Cromwell, Cllr Iain Dobie, Cllr Kate Haigh, 
Cllr Joe Harris (Vice-Chairman), Cllr Jeremy Hilton, Cllr Stephen Hirst, Cllr Carole Allaway Martin, 
Cllr Shaun Parsons (Chair), Cllr Brian Robinson, Cllr Rachel Smith, Cllr Ray Theodoulou and 
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE

Added Members - 

Co-Opted Member - 



    

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer 
(Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Stephen Bace, Senior Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny Team)
:01452 324204/fax: 425850/e-mail: stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is permitted subject 
to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services (tel 
01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of 
the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services 
Officer on duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 
Wednesday 12 June 2019 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:

Cllr Brian Robinson
Cllr Shaun Parsons (Chair)
Cllr Kate Haigh
Cllr Joe Harris
Cllr Rachel Smith
Cllr Lesley Williams

Cllr Kevin Cromwell
Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin
Cllr Iain Dobie
Cllr Rob Bird

Substitutes:

Officers in attendance: Jane Burns, Director Strategy and Challenge
Rob Ayliffe, Head of Strategic Planning, Performance & 
Change
Paul Blacker, Head of Financial Management
Simon Harper, Head of Democratic Services (Statutory 
Scrutiny Officer
Stephen Bace, Lead Democratic Services Adviser

Apologies: Cllr Stephen Hirst and Cllr Ray Theodoulou

1. APOLOGIES 

See above.

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

2.1 The minutes of the OSMC meeting on 22 March 2019 was considered by the 
members who had attended that meeting. The minutes of the meeting were agreed 
as a correct record subject to the amendment detailed below.

Cllr Rachel Smith stated that she felt that the word ‘explained’ at minute 15.9, 
should be amended as she felt that there was no adequate explanation given. The 
Committee agreed to amend the word to ‘reported’. 

2.2 In addition, Cllr Smith suggested additional wording of: ‘The Chief Executive 
acknowledged that the council was in a poor negotiating position in relation to UBB’. 
The Committee as a whole did not agree to the change, but suggested that 
Rachel’s proposed amendment be included in the current meeting’s minutes to 
reflect her view.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

2.3 The Chairman suggested that it would be helpful to raise any amendments to the 
minutes in advance of the meeting. 

2.4 Cllr Smith noted the action from the meeting for her to write up a one page strategy 
on the residual waste project. She had prepared a one page strategy and was 
seeking advice as to how to proceed. This was again picked up at the end of the 
meeting and officers would take this forward and provide advice. The suggestion of 
the Chairman was that this should be considered by Environment Scrutiny 
Committee.  

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

No additional declarations.

4. TERMS OF REFERENCE 

4.1 Simon Harper, Statutory Scrutiny Officer, provided members with details of the 
Committee’s terms of reference as agreed by the Constitution Committee. 
Following the scrutiny review that had been undertaken, members had agreed that 
the committee would replace the previous Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee. The aim was for the new committee to be more forward focussed but 
still to oversee the coordination of the work of the scrutiny committees as 
necessary.

4.2 Alongside the terms of reference, members noted the rules relating to scrutiny task 
groups as outlined at 3.10.7 in the Constitution and the details of the role of scrutiny 
within Article 8.

4.3 The Committee received details of the CIPFA guidance relating to Audit 
committees. The Audit and Governance Committee ensured that the risk 
management framework was in place but Corporate Scrutiny had a key role in the 
consideration of risk management and scrutiny of the register. It had been 
suggested that the Chair of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee attend the 
Audit and Governance Committee with a report on the scrutiny of the risk register at 
a meeting once a year.    

4.4 As part of the Committee papers, members received the Statutory Guidance on 
Overview and Scrutiny in Local and Combined Authorities which had been 
published by the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government. Members 
noted the particular focus on the organisational culture of scrutiny contained within 
the document. 

4.5 One member emphasised the importance of making sure the Council’s scrutiny 
arrangements were in sync with the guidance. He particularly noted the voting 
arrangements suggested in the guidance around a secret ballot of all councillors 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

when appointing chairs. In response it was explained that it was for each authority 
to consider its own arrangements but could consider a secret ballot. During the 
scrutiny review the chairing of committees had been considered and the 
arrangements had been agreed by Council. One member felt that a secret ballot 
was not in line with being open and transparent.  It was explained that the 
constitution allowed for a secret ballot but that there was also provision for a 
recorded vote which would take precedence. 

4.6 Cllr Kate Haigh would be attending the CfPS symposium on 20 June 2019 and 
would report back to members on that.

5. WORK PLAN 

5.1 At each meeting of the Committee there would be an item on the work plan to allow 
members to suggest items for future meetings and ensure that the Committee 
remained focused on its remit and carried out its role effectively. 

5.2 The Committee noted the Forthcoming Executive Decision List and Council 
Strategy and members emphasised how this should be the basis from which the 
Committee’s work plan be developed. One member suggested that the current 28 
day reporting of forthcoming decisions made it difficult to effectively work plan and 
horizon scan.

5.3 In relation to the Council Strategy a member suggested that ‘transforming services 
through digital innovation; get the most out of the shared public sector estate and 
developing a future focussed workforce’ should be the focus of the Committee. In 
response it was explained that Neil Corbett could be invited to the next meeting of 
the Committee to present on the One Public Estate. In response to a suggestion of 
a briefing, a member emphasised the importance of it going to a full meeting of the 
Committee.    
ACTION Lead Members/ Neil Corbett

5.4 One member commented on the risk relating to a financial settlement. In response 
it was explained that going forward there was uncertainty around the settlement and 
government was being lobbied for greater certainty by the LGA. As the Council got 
greater clarity on the issue, the Committee would be updated. There was a 
discussion around the budgetary pressures across children’s and adults. 

5.5 The recommendation from the Constitution Committee to the next Council meeting 
was for the Committee to meet at least four times a year. It was suggested by the 
Chair that the meeting of the Committee on 31 July 2019 could be cancelled in 
order that a joint meeting of the Health Overview and Scrutiny and Adult Social 
Care and Communities Scrutiny to be set for that date. The subsequent meetings of 
the Corporate Scrutiny Committee would then be on 27 September and 29 
November 2019. One member expressed concern about only having four meetings 
of the committee a year and suggested the importance of having enough meetings 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

to carry out the work. Another member suggested that a reduction in meetings 
would fit with the more focussed role for the new committee avoiding duplication.

5.6 The Committee discussed whether the meeting on 31 July 2019 should be 
cancelled and whether there should be six meetings a year as previously set for 
OSMC or support the Constitution Committee recommendation for less. On being 
put to the vote the Committee agreed to recommend to full Council that there 
should be a minimum of six meetings a year for Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in line with the other scrutiny committees. A decision regarding the July 
meeting would be made following the Council meeting but would remain in 
calendars. 
ACTION Cllr Shaun Parsons/ Simon Harper 

6. CHANGES TO CORPORATE PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 

6.1 Rob Ayliffe informed the Committee of the proposed changes to the corporate 
performance management framework including a review of the Council’s core 
performance dataset, the development of a corporate dashboard and the 
development of a Gloucestershire 2050 index.  This was a timely piece of work as 
the Council had agreed a new strategy in February: ‘Looking to the Future’ and with 
the implementation of a new scrutiny structure and new statutory guidance.

6.2 Over the previous 6 months meetings had been held with senior managers in each 
area of the Council in order to review the measures used to track performance at a 
corporate level. A set of 127 measures that should form the basis of a quarterly 
scorecard had been proposed. These would need to be kept under constant review 
to ensure they remained relevant.

6.3 In relation to the Corporate Performance Dashboard, this would consist of no more 
than 20 measures helping to focus on a more in depth understanding of the most 
critical aspects of council performance.

6.4 The 2050 index would build on engagement undertaken by Leadership 
Gloucestershire as part of Vision 2050. Under each ambition within the new Council 
Strategy would be a small number of key strategic indicators to track, analyse and 
report on. The aim to complete this would be for the end of July.

6.5 One member suggested it would be useful to have a performance indicator which 
reflected fire fighters response to medical emergencies.

6.6 One member requested population figures relating to the adult social care data.  in 
relation to average waiting time for carer assessments the member stated she 
would want welcome details of the actual times. Another member reiterated the 
importance of understanding what targets meant and what the numbers sat 
beneath the percentages. It was suggested that the dataset recorded ‘what was 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

happening’ and not why it was happening. It was explained that where possible 
‘impact measures’ were chosen. 

6.7 One member stated that it would be useful to have a traffic light system for key 
indicators. It was stated that the performance team was encouraging colleagues to 
set targets so there would be RAG ratings where appropriate.

6.8 There was a discussion around the performance indicators for Trading Standards 
with one member commented that it would be interesting to see the complaints 
received around internet scams and targeted activity against vulnerable people and 
livestock movements.

6.9 In response to a question, members were informed that there were measures of 
accessibility which modelled public transport and data around public proximity to 
various facilities and services, but that these were not really suited to quarterly 
reporting as they do not ten to change from quarter to quarter. 

6.10 One member noted the indicators around the amount of energy produced per tonne 
of household waste. She asked whether there was a way of measuring the waste 
that wasn’t put into energy production. A response would be provided.
ACTION Rob Ayliffe

6.11 It was clarified that the 2006 baseline for co2 emissions was the standard measure.

7. STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT 4TH QUARTER 
2018/19 

7.1 Rob Ayliffe presented slides detailing some key areas within the Councils strategic 
performance for Members’ attention. This included the data score card for the fourth 
quarter of 2018/19. The Council was meeting or exceeding 69.4% of its targets. 
Some indicators for children were not expected to show improvement over the short 
term. 

7.2 The Committee noted the data relating to the timeliness of children seen following 
referral. Data up to March 2019 indicated 55% of children were seen in timescale 
following contact, this had not shown significant improvement. This was an area of 
main focus before Ofsted returned in August. One member commented that 
performance was variable patchy across the County. It was stated that Children and 
Families should consider this in more detail; they had met with the Chair of the 
Improvement Board. This would continue to be an area of focus for the committee. 
Members understood that since September 2018 there had been an increase in the 
numbers of referrals. 

7.3 Data relating to Children’s Services re-referrals within 12 months showed a 
reduction in re-referrals in the fourth quarter. It was noted that this was an area to 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

keep an eye on, but feedback suggested that increasingly the ‘front door’ element 
of children’s services was stabilising. 

7.4 Performance on Children becoming subject to a protection plan and children 
services admissions and readmissions to care were highlighted. It was suggested 
that there was a lack of confidence to hold and manage risk and that may be the 
cause of the increase in this area. The Chairman of Children and Families Overview 
and Scrutiny explained that there were a high number of ‘Section 20’s’ and he had 
a big concern that children were not being adequately looked after for their long 
term needs and that the focus was too short term. Re-admissions to care was an 
area of concern in terms of outcomes for young people but also in terms of budget 
pressures. 

7.5 The Committee received a snapshot of the types of adult social care being 
provided. Growth was shown in the number of clients with dementia, but the 
snapshot showed the achievement in managing demand in this area. Some of that 
demand management was carried out at innovation sites where it is also, reducing 
the amount of time that people were waiting for an assessment. 

7.6 Proportion of adult social care ‘clients’ reviewed or reassessed in the last 12 
months showed a downwards trend and ended the year at 59%. The performance 
team was providing more detailed data and analysis to locality teams to help them 
achieve an improvement in subsequent quarters. One member asked for clarity as 
to the number of people involved and members suggested that numbers should be 
included in future graphs. In response to a question it was explained that as part of 
the Older People data a proportion would have dementia. Members were reassured 
that those with the greatest need were prioritised. There were processes in place to 
identify when an individual’s needs were changing.

7.7 Gloucestershire was a significant outlier in relation to late HIV diagnosis. Work was 
underway to understand the underlying causes. One member asked if there was 
any link to the change of service provider. A written response would be provided to 
the committee including the population numbers involved. 
ACTION Rob Ayliffe/ Sarah Scott 

7.8 The Committee noted that the Council had achieved £18.35 million savings which 
was just £0.34m short of the £18.69 million savings target from 2018/19. This 
shortfall would form part of future savings targets.

7.9 It was explained that there was a measure of carers’ satisfaction which was 
collected bi-annually through a national survey. In comparison Gloucestershire’s 
performance was slightly lower than England average. Underlying data suggested 
an older profile of carers and that could have an impact in terms of their own needs. 

8. FINANCE UPDATE 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

8.1 Paul Blacker introduced the update on the County Council’s Revenue and Capital 
outturn expenditure for 2018/19. The report set out a forecast of the year end 
revenue position of £418.081 million based on actual expenditure at the end of 
February 2019, which had been updated to show a year end actual position of an 
underspend of £2.9 million.. Members commented that it would have been helpful 
to have the Cabinet paper with their agenda.  

8.2 The biggest overspend was in Children’s Services of £9 million and this included 
additional funding of around £3 million. That had been added to the 2019/20 budget 
which included £12 million. 

8.3 One member noted that there were a number of transfers in the Cabinet paper. In 
response it was explained that the end of year outturn report included transfers that 
would have previously been budgeted for. The example of the strategic waste 
reserve was given where the transfer would not be made until the end of the 
financial year despite being previously budgeted for. 

8.4 One member asked if the Committee could receive the most up-to-date finance 
reports, particularly when the committee meeting was being held close to the 
Cabinet meeting. On this occasion the publication of the finance report had been 
after the publication of the agenda. Some members commented that scrutiny 
should receive the report before Cabinet. Consideration would be given to how this 
might be taken forward.
ACTION Democratic Services/ Paul Blacker

9. PERFORMANCE REPORT - STRATEGY AND CHALLENGE (4TH QUARTER 
2018/19) 

9.1 Jane Burns introduced the performance report for Strategy and Challenge. The 
report detailed the drafting of the new 3 year Council Strategy ‘Looking to the 
Future’ and the 98.2% achievement of the targeted savings in 2018/19.  Further 
details were provided about the ‘For the Record’ project in Gloucestershire Archives 
and the recent completion of the Scrutiny Review. 

9.2 92.2% of improvement activities for Strategy and Challenge were on or ahead of 
target and 91.3% of indicators was on or ahead of target. The budget was 
underspent for the year with the majority of those funds being capitalised for the 
completion of the ‘For the Record’ project.

9.3 In response to a question it was explained that there was a Members ICT group 
and that a briefing note could be provided to the Committee on progress that was 
being made with regards to Members’ ICT equipment. 
ACTION Simon Harper 

 

10. PERFORMANCE REPORT - CORE COUNCIL (4TH QUARTER 2018/19) 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

10.1 Paul Blacker introduced the performance report for Core Council. It was noted that 
there had been a slow but steady increase in the staff headcount for the year which 
was mainly down to having more starters than leavers in both Children’s and Adults 
Social Care. Overall sickness absence levels were 8% above the target with long 
term sickness levels high but this was an improving position on the last financial 
year. The number of days lost due to stress was being investigated further with 
senior managers. 

10.2 Invoices paid within 30 days was increasing and almost at the 95% target at 94.2%. 

10.3 One member asked about the shared public estate and whether this would involve 
surplus assets. It was explained that those assets would go in front of the Property 
Board to see if there was any wider public sector use first.

10.4 In response to a question it was explained that absence due to stress was higher in 
those frontline service areas such as children’s and the Fire and Rescue Service. A 
briefing could be circulated to members.
ACTION Mandy Quayle

11. APPROACH TO BUDGET SCRUTINY 

11.1 The Committee considered the draft proposals for budget scrutiny which was based 
on previous years and comprised of a meeting in January 2020 involving all 
members of Council. The day would include allocated times for each Committee to 
consider the budget under their remit with the relevant Cabinet Members and 
Senior Officers. Corporate Scrutiny Committee members would be in attendance 
throughout the day to ensure continuity and that recurring themes could be picked 
up. The Committee agreed to the approach as detailed in the paper.

11.2 At the close of the meeting Cllr Haigh updated the committee that the scrutiny task 
group on taxi licensing had been agreed by Economic Growth Scrutiny. 

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12noon

Page 8



One Public Estate (OPE)

OPE is a national programme jointly run by the Cabinet Office Government Property 
Unit and the Local Government Association. The One Gloucestershire Estates 
Group has been established to draw up a joint Service and Assets Delivery Plan 
(SADP) together with our Health, Fire, Police, Borough and District partners to 
deliver the following outputs over the next 5 years;

500 new homes and 1000 new jobs through the identification of opportunity sites

£30.6m in capital receipts and £5.6m in revenue savings by reducing the size of the 
estate, eliminating significant maintenance liabilities

The group is empowered by their executive teams to drive the partnership forward 
successfully, working collaboratively with other partners by;

sharing information about sites, their ownership, utilisation and future plans
working together wherever possible and making resources available to do so and 
actively seeking opportunities to drive better value for money through collaboration

The ‘One Gloucestershire Estate’ Programme currently includes 4 key projects – 
funding for the Gloucester and Cheltenham Public Sector Hubs, Forest of Dean 
Partner Alignment and the Cotswold Regeneration and Blue Light Project.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



One Gloucestershire 

One Public Estate Programme

Neil Corbett – Head of Property Services
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 31st July

P
age 11



One Gloucestershire
• Joined OPE programme in December 2016

• Total funding of £380,000 received from OPE to develop four 
major projects all involving partner organisations:
• Gloucester Hub
• Cheltenham Hub
• Cirencester Town Centre Regeneration and Blue Light Hub
• Forest of Dean Hub / Forest Healthy Place Making 

P
age 12



One Gloucestershire Partnership

P
age 13



Other Strategic Partners

• Ministry of Justice
• Ministry of Defence
• Dept for Work and Pensions
• Homes England
• GFirst Local Enterprise Partnership

P
age 14



Regeneration of Quayside 
and Blackfriars

• Memorandum of Understanding signed 2014 by Leaders of 
Gloucestershire County Council and Gloucester City Council 
to create masterplan to regenerate areas

• Local Development Order (LDO) adopted March 2017

• LDO Approved by Secretary of State May 2017

• Approved planning uses in LDO include clinics, health 
centres, residential and car parking

P
age 15



P
age 16



£4.13m secured April 2015 through 
GFirst LEP Growth Fund to de-risk 
sites ready for redevelopment:

• Archaeology
• Ecology
• Ground conditions & contamination
• Flood risk
• Demolition

Quayside and Blackfriars 
site preparation

P
age 17



Phase 1
• 295 student flats approved 

February 2017
• Completed for occupation 

September 2018
• Capital receipt £850k

Phase 2
• 186 student flats approved 

November 2018

Blackfriars site

P
age 18



Student accommodation, Blackfriars 
– Phase 1 

P
age 19



Student accommodation, Blackfriars 
– Phase 2

Artists impression

P
age 20



Quayside site - Phases 3 and 4

P
age 21



Quayside House built in 1960s with 
expected life of 30 years 

P
age 22



Quayside site cleared ready for redevelopment

P
age 23



OPE Project: Gloucester Hub 
Phase 3

One Gloucestershire partnership identified opportunity to relocate two 
GP practices to Quayside site as current surgery buildings are no 
longer fit for purpose or have space for expected population growth

OPE funding secured to support needs analysis, feasibility, options 
appraisal and development of business case

GCC and NHS CCG agreed to progress new ‘super surgery’ to serve 
17,500 patients  

P
age 24



• Two GP surgeries to serve 17,500 patients with parking
• On-site pharmacy 
• Changing places facility fully accessible on ground floor
• Occupational Health Unit
• Other supported health uses
• Office accommodation

P
age 25



Key Issues
• Political buy in
• NHS Glos Clinical Commissioning Group Sustainability and 

Transformation Plan (STP)
• Two GP Practices
• Property ownership
• Business case/governance
• Occupational Health GCC and health partners joint working
• Changing Places facility opportunity

P
age 26



• New building to utilise foundations of former building to 
preserve archaeology beneath and avoid additional costs

• Flood risk mitigated by raising ground floor slab and using 
majority for car parking

• Modern facility to be built to BREEAM Excellent Standards
• Modern Methods of Construction 
• Solar panels
• Electric car charging points

P
age 27



Quayside Development - Phase 3
• Cabinet and Council 

approved funding of £16m
• CCG approved support for 

GP funding to cover lease 
costs

• Planning application 
submitted July 2019

• Operational Autumn 2020

P
age 28



P
age 29



Shire Hall Refurbishment

P
age 30



• Replacement of windows
• Cladding
• Solar panels incorporated into new cladding and on roof
• Construction of new adults and children’s services hub
• New well being space including multi faith room, multi 

use studio, new cycling storage, showers and toilets
• New reception area and offices for Glos Police

Shire Hall fully refurbished to provide 
modern efficient office space:

P
age 31



• New Boardroom and suite of videoconferencing meeting 
rooms

• WiFi enabled building
• Drop in hub for short duration working environment 
• Local kitchen facilities in addition to Spires and Bearlands

Café with option to utilise as a Conference Centre
• New reception area and offices for Gloucestershire Police
• Extended access to the building in terms of hours of use 

and also accessibility

P
age 32



Bearlands Café and Conference Centre

P
age 33



New build on site of old magistrate’s 
court

New social care hub for Adults and 
Children

Provides fully accessible reception, 
private rooms for confidential 
discussions and brings together 
social care teams in one place

Barbican Reception

P
age 34



P
age 35



Solar panels incorporated into the new cladding and on 
the roof, providing independent electricity supply to 
significantly reduce our energy bills and carbon footprint

P
age 36



P
age 37



• Gloucester City Council
• Gloucestershire Care Services
• Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 
• Gloucester Police Station
• Ringway
• Atkins
• Sopra Steria
• Western Adoption Services

Public Sector Partners in Shire Hall

P
age 38



Summary
• Full regeneration of rundown area of Gloucester City Centre
• Meeting multi agency aspirations
• Joint working and shared efficiencies
• Future proofing car parking provision
• Support to flagging high street/city centre
• Key linkages around the city
• Optimised occupation from 1400 to 2500+ people
• Enhanced green credentials – BREEAM and solar panels
• More to come !

P
age 39



• CBC/GCC new build hub £24m not proceeded with
• CBC rationalisation to free up lettable space
• Closed and vacated Sandford Park House (£180k 

revenue savings) GCS and GCC
• Rationalisation of Cheltenham County Offices. Subject of 

current capital bid. MoJ, Probation, Police, Registrars.
• Chester Walk/St Georges Road land swap

Cheltenham Public Sector Hub

P
age 40



• Cyber park proposals and implications for the public 
sector

• North west Cheltenham development strategic 
infrastructure implications

• Monkscroft/Old Gloucester Road developments for 
housing provision

• Disposal Prestbury Road Day Centre £1.2m. New GP 
super surgery to serve Prestbury

Cheltenham Continued

P
age 41



• Sale of Magistrates and Police buildings in town centre
• Relocation of Police to new blue light hub
• Rationalisation of Cirencester Hospital campus
• Rationalisation/remodelling of Cirencester Fire Station
• Improve car parking in town centre
• Support town centre regeneration
• Review GCC Cirencester presence

Cirencester Town Centre 
Regeneration and Blue Light Hub

P
age 42



• Forest of Dean leading project (Cinderford Northern 
Quarter Project) mixed use housing and commercial 
regeneration scheme

• New Forest of Dean Hospital
• New GP Surgery in Cinderford
• Dean House Locality Hub GCC/GCS staff
• Wider provision of services in the FoD including 

rationalisation of district council offices

Forest of Dean Healthy Living and 
Placemaking Project

P
age 43



• Performance reporting on existing schemes to 
demonstrate delivery of targets

• Phase 8 Housing delivery schemes to bring forward 
complex/stalled sites

• Strengthen partnership working with the LEP
• Identification of opportunities in Stroud and Tewkesbury 

currently not funded by OPE

OPE next steps / opportunities

P
age 44



1

Finance Update
Purpose of Report:  To provide an update on the County Council's Revenue & Capital 

outturn expenditure for 2019/20.

Officer:                      Paul Blacker, Director of Finance (01452) 3258999
                Paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Revenue Expenditure 2018/19

A. Outturn Position

1. The overall revenue outturn position for 2018/19 is an underspend of £2.905 
million (or 0.7% of the total budget).

2. This overall position includes proposed transfers to address known financial 
pressures and existing commitments. In addition it is proposed to transfer the 
£2.905 million revenue underspend as follows:

 £2.855 million to the Transformation Reserve for future transformation 
initiatives

 £0.050 million to a ‘Vision 2050’ working fund.

3. Details of the outturn position are provided in the following table.

Page 45

Agenda Annex

mailto:Paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

Cabinet Outturn Position - Proposed Outturn Figures 2018-19

Carryforward 
of 2018/19 

budget 
allocations

Recommended 
Transfers

Variance 
%

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 %

Adults 143,114 1,000 144,114 142,290 1,000 824 144,114 0 0.0%

Prevention & 
Wellbeing

34,184 34,184 33,770 0 350 34,120 -64 -0.2%

Children & Families 102,086 2,600 104,686 112,978 0 386 113,364 8,678 8.3%

Communities & 
Infrastructure

86,871 1,000 87,871 85,436 934 1,710 88,080 209 0.2%

Business Support 
Services

29,861 29,861 28,682 0 93 28,775 -1,086 -3.6%

Support Services 
Recharges

-29,861 -29,861 -29,861 0 0 -29,861 0 0.0%

Total for Services 366,255 4,600 370,855 373,295 1,934 3,363 378,592 7,737 2.1%

Technical & Cross 
Cutting

47,226 47,226 28,869 0 7,715 36,584 -10,642 -22.5%

Total 413,481 4,600 418,081 402,164 1,934 11,078 415,176 -2,905 -0.7%

Service Area
2018/19 
Budget

Initial Outturn 
Position 

Recommended 
Outturn Variance

 Additional 
Budget from 

BRR Pilot

Revised 
2018/19 
Budget

Commentary and main reasons for the outturn positions are provided in the following 
sections.

Adult Social Care

4. Adult Social Care is reporting a balanced position. This includes a proposed 
£1.824 million transfer to the Vulnerable Adults Reserve. The transfer relates to 
£0.824 million of Care Act funding that was held to support 2018/19 risks on 
achieving the Adults Single Programme.  It is proposed to use this funding in 
2019/20 to progress projects and investment in community based provision that 
supports the Adult Single Programme. In addition £1.000 million was allocated 
from the Business Rates Retention Pilot in 2018/19 to Adult Services for demand 
related pressures however these in year pressures have been supported from 
one-off funding streams.  Therefore it is proposed to transfer this allocation to be 
used for future demand related Adult Services pressures in 2019/20.

5. Learning Disabilities (LD) overspent by £0.278 million (0.6% of budget).  The 
overspend relates to unachieved LD savings (£1.472 million against a target of 
£6.622 million), increased demand and increased complexity of some cases.  

Page 46



3

The overspend excludes £0.945 million budget previously held as a contingency 
for outstanding rate change payments will be required in full, although a major 
piece of work is near completion to validate this position.  This is included in the 
Other Services position covered in paragraph 9 below.

6. Older People and Physical Disabilities (OPPD) budgets overspent by £3.083 
million, (6.1% of budget).  £1.143 million of this total relates to unachieved 
savings (against a target of £5.747 million). The balance of £1.940 million mainly 
relates to increased care needs for existing cases, additional bad debt provision 
and to voids / other additional costs relating to homes run by a major provider.

7. The Mental Health budget overspent by £0.922 million (12.1% of budget), this 
relates to the 2gether NHSFT (2G) overspend of £2.364 million, offset by 
unallocated MTFS growth and savings budget and £0.211 million uncommitted 
one-off MTFS allocation. The overspend mainly relates to cases with increasing 
complexity and therefore higher unit costs.

8. Community Equipment and Telecare overspent by £0.011 million (0.4% of the 
budget).   The Community Equipment Pool overspent, which was reduced by an 
underspend in Telecare.  The underlying position for Community Equipment is a 
significant overspend which has been offset by the Disabled Facilities Grant 
(DFG) leaving a small overspend.  This budget needs to be sustainable in the 
long term, as it continues to be demand lead and the long term future of the DFG 
funding is not clearly known.

9. Other Services are underspent by £3.106 million (15.6% of budget excluding 
central service costs).  This is due to a combination of uncommitted temporary 
and permanent funding received, as well as pay budget underspends (mainly 
due to vacancies), and the £0.945 million uncommitted contingency budget 
referred to in paragraph 5 above.

10.Unallocated budgets are underspent by £1.19 million (15.0% of budget), again 
relating to uncommitted funding held to manage the overall position.

Prevention and Wellbeing 

11.Services within this area include Public Health, Supporting People and a number 
of smaller budgets covering the prevention hub team and grants.

12.The outturn position is an under-spend of £0.06 million and is due to staff 
vacancies earlier in the year within the prevention hub team and slippage on an 
Evolving Communities project. There are offsetting variances within Supporting 
People resulting in a position close to breakeven, these are explained below. 

13. In-year Public Health is under-spent by £0.35 million due to the delay in the 
development of a new service within healthy lifestyles, lower dispensing costs 

Page 47



4

related to substance misuse prevention and reduced demand for smoking 
cessation and health checks. These variances offset the higher dispensing costs 
in sexual health and a cost pressure for a substance misuse drug treatment. 
Public Health is reported as a balanced position since services are funded by a 
ring-fenced grant, which if unspent is required to be carried forward in a specific 
reserve to be used for “qualifying purposes”, which can include new 
commitments. It is proposed to transfer the Public Health underspend to the 
Public Health Reserve.

14.Supporting People contracts overspent by £0.2 million due to unachieved 
savings, additional contract payments for inflation and top ups. The over-spend 
was offset by lower payments for Community Based Support contracts and the 
welfare reform fund.

15.Gloucestershire has been selected by the MHLG as an early adopter of the 
Rapid Rehousing Pathway and in 2018/19 it has been allocated a grant of 
£0.243 million. Through our strong local relationships with community 
organisations we will use this funding to rapidly deliver new services to reduce 
rough sleeping, increase the sustainment of tenancy outcomes and increase the 
evidence base for the effectiveness of the Somewhere Safe to Stay model. 

Children and Families

16.The year end revenue position as at March 2019 for non-DSG funded services is 
an over-spend of £8.67million (8.29% of budget). The gross over-spend is £11.7 
million, which is reduced to £8.67 million by using the £2.6 million one-off income 
from the business rates retention pilot and £0.43 million from the vulnerable 
people’s reserve. 

17.At the end of March 2019 children in care numbers were 720 compared to 549 at 
the end of March 2016 and although nationally the trend is increasing (circa 3% 
p.a.) other factors that have had an adverse affect on spend have included the 
need for improvement in social work practice through catching up on drift and 
delay in casework. The number of children in care has caused significant 
pressures on children’s services and in particular against the external placement, 
safeguarding staff and young people’s support budgets resulting in the over-
spend. 

18.As part of the 2018/19 budget, additional investment of £7.6 million was 
approved for external placements. This investment was based on a maximum 
number of 280 external placements with a unit cost of £61,600 per annum using 
an 80:20 fostering to residential weighting. The year end over-spend position 
against the external placement budget of £6.69 million (38.8% above budget) is 
due to a higher number of external placements than anticipated, within which the 
number of residential and supported living placements has increased in both 
absolute and proportionate terms. Many of the residential and supported living 

Page 48



5

placements were required to meet the needs of highly complex children resulting 
in an average unit cost of £93,400 per annum. External placements averaged 
298 during the year, of which 74 were residential. 

19. In addition to this young people’s support have over-spent by a £1.5 million due 
to the cost of a number of complex cases and the additional cost of agency staff 
covering vacancies during the year. 

20.The Director of Children’s Service’s has led an ongoing review of all high cost 
placements as part of the wider improvement work on permanence planning. 
The aim has been to reduce the cost of external placements where appropriate, 
given the higher unit costs outlined above, ensure decisions around placement 
change and permanence were executed in a timely child centred manner, and 
ultimately bring down the over-spend. The estimated £1 million of cost avoidance 
in 2018/19 have been achieved following these in depth reviews. An additional 
£6.2 million, approved as part of the MTFS, will fund the higher activity and costs 
of provision of external placements in 2019/20.  

21.Safeguarding staffing budgets have received £4.01 million of investment through 
the MTFS in 2018/19 to reduce caseloads and improve practice within teams. In-
year additional funding of £1.45 million was approved to increase pay and 
allowances for social workers but recruitment of social workers especially 
experienced staff continued to be a challenge. Agency staff covered staff 
vacancies or where caseloads remained high, resulting in an over-spend of 
£2.98 million. To address this position for 2019/20, changes are being made to 
improve processes for recruitment as well as put in place more effective 
advertising. The increase in child protection cases has resulted in additional 
Child Protection chairs being employed on a temporarily basis resulting in a 
£0.33 million over-spend.

22.A higher level of activity has also caused an over-spend of £1.11 million in 
section 17 and discretionary payments for foster carers. New procedures have 
been put in place to review all significant payments and ensure consistency 
across teams. Additionally, a resource panel will be put in place to gate-keep 
significant section 17 expenditure. 

23.There are a number of offsetting variances which include services for children 
with disabilities that are under-spent by £0.35 million due to lower costs against 
contracts, the residential unit and staff vacancies in the field work teams. 
Adoption, child arrangement and special guardianship orders are under-spent by 
£0.21 million due to lower than expected number of allowances and orders 
made. Also, in-year uncommitted contingencies of £0.18 million were realised to 
offset the cost pressures in social care budgets.

Page 49



6

24.The delay in the development of the IRIS residential element has resulted in an 
under-spend of £0.42 million, an increase of £0.12 million above the figure 
quoted in the April Cabinet report.   The Sufficiency Strategy review has 
proposed the development of Trevone House for supported living to provide 
accommodation for a number of young people who need intensive support. It is 
therefore proposed that the additional slippage of £0.12 million in year on IRIS in 
2018/19 is transferred as revenue contribution to capital to support the capital 
refurbishment of the property.

25.The outturn assumes that £0.386 million of the additional one-off budget 
allocations agreed in 2017/18 will be carried forward to 2019/20 to complete 
projects which were planned to cover a two year period. The initial start of these 
projects which included further capacity for family group conference and 
domestic abuse prevention was delayed resulting in services continuing into 
2019/20.

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position

26.Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are over-spent by £4.16 million 
in 2018/19. The announcement in December 2018 by the DFE of additional 
funds due to the national pressure on high needs has reduced the over-spend by 
£1.35 million and uncommitted balances brought forward of £1.99 million reduce 
the net over-spend to £0.82 million against the ring-fenced grant. As reported 
during the year the cost pressures have been in the High Needs Block (over-
spend for the block £6.15 million) with over-spends against Independent Special 
Schools (£1.18 million), special school places (£0.95 million), top ups for 
alternative provision services (£1.49 million) and other schools (£2.44 million). 
These overspends are caused by increase activity levels which reflects the 
national picture. Early years block budgets have under-spent by £1.51 million 
due to a lower take up of free nursery entitlement payments. 

27.As a result of the cost pressures in the High Needs Block, central DSG is shown 
as a deficit of £0.82 million in reserves at year end as reported above. 

28.The High Needs Programme is focussing on addressing this financial pressure 
and the additional funding announced by the DFE for 2018/19 and 2019/20 will 
ease some of the pressure but not all if expenditure continues at this level in 
2019/20. The specialist commissioning team has been working to reduce the 
cost of placements where appropriate and savings of over £0.85 million have 
been achieved in 2018/19. Also, changes to funding arrangements are currently 
being discussed with the Schools Forum to bring the DSG back into balance. 
Any potential over-spend in future years which could not be addressed through 
the DSG ring-fenced grant may result in a future financial risk to the Council. 
This reflects an emerging national picture, around which lobbying continues for 
additional funding and flexibility to move funding between DSG blocks. 

Page 50



7

Communities & Infrastructure 

29.The outturn position for Communities & Infrastructure is £0.209 million 
overspend (0.24 % of the original budget). This includes the recommended 
transfer to reserve, carry forward requests and a RCCO as detailed in the 
commentary below. 

30.Highways have overspent by £0.777 million which is made up of £0.228m 
against winter maintenance costs due to a severe winter at the end of the last 
financial year and the delayed receipt of invoices for community snow plough 
operations as well as restocking salt.  The remaining £0.549 million overspend is 
due to the additional pothole repair works to recover the network following the 
severe winter, as well as some additional costs for demobilisation of the Amey 
contract and mobilisation of the new contracts that could not be capitalised.

31.The above position includes the recommendation that the in-year underspend of 
£0.496 million on Highways Local schemes is carried forward to 2019/20. The 
outturn position also includes the proposed £0.332 million revenue contribution 
to the Highways capital budget to fund completed Highways Local schemes. 

32. Integrated Transport budget finished with a £0.060 million underspend due to 
lower concessionary fares costs in the fourth quarter and new income from bus 
departure charges at Arle Court.  

33.This outturn position includes two recommended carry forwards one at £0.150 
million which relates to income from Boots Corner camera enforcement to cover 
future costs of Cheltenham Transport Plan including Boots Corner experimental 
changes and related measures. Overall this scheme is yet to breakeven.

34.The second carry forward request for £0.438 million is for the Electric Vehicle 
Infrastructure which was one off funding for delivery of a countywide EV strategy 
and elements of the draft Air Quality & Health Partnership action plan which have 
been developed with partners over the past year. More details to be published 
this summer.

35.Regulatory Services over achieved their income target by £0.287 million in 
Registration Services which was achieved through an increase in ceremonies 
income and some reductions in anticipated expenditure. 

36.Libraries achieved a £0.011 million underspend due to a vacancy saving.

37.Waste is showing a break even position overall after the proposed transfer of 
£1.534 million to the Strategic Waste Reserve to fund the EFW (Energy from 
Waste) revenue smoothing requirement going forward. 

38.Strategic infrastructure has achieved a £0.147 million underspend due to using 
capital grants instead of revenue to fund flood alleviation work. This includes the 
recommendation to carry forward £0.025 million for the Joint Strategic Rail 
strategy between GCC, LEP and partners to inform future policy and investment 
decisions, due to be commissioned late 18-19 but now delayed until early 19-20 
to enable all partners to input and the final brief to be finalised. GCC has a key 

Page 51



8

leadership role in coordinating and commissioning this piece of work to ensure a 
County wide approach and as such, the NHB funding set aside to support 
strategic infrastructure activity will be crucial in enabling this to happen.

39.The Fire and Rescue Service achieved a small underspend of £0.017 million due 
to the pay award coming in lower than expected.

40.The Corporate C&I underspent by £0.046 due to short term vacancies which 
have now been filled.

Business Support Services

41.Overall the outturn position for Business Support Services is an underspend of 
£1.086 million (3.6% of the budget).

42.The underspend is primarily related to savings as a result of vacancies and 
additional income from Traded Services.

43.This position assumes that £0.09 million of the surplus generated by Traded 
Services is transferred to the Traded Services Reserve.  

44.This position also includes a recommended revenue contribution to the Archives 
project of £0.19 million.

Technical and Cross Cutting

45.The outturn position for Technical and Corporate budgets is a £10.642 million 
underspend (22.5% of budget).The main areas of variance relate to:-

46.Positive interest rate credits on balances achieved an over recovery of income of 
£3.277 million above budget reflecting better diversification of investments, 
longer term deposits and additional income following the Bank of England base 
rate change.

47.The 2018/19 budget included an MtC2 savings contingency; this was approved 
by Council to reflect the high risk nature of some of the savings programmes in 
demand led areas in 2018/19. The full £1.589 million contingency has been 
released to support the overall budget. 

48.There has been a re-tendering of the insurance contracts, which has resulted in 
a favourable forecast underspend of £0.843 million on the corporate insurance 
budget.  A review of the level of reserves held specifically for Insurance purposes 
has also identified that current balances are in excess of actuarial 

Page 52



9

recommendations. It is therefore recommended that a one off transfer of £0.800 
million is transferred to the Transformation Reserve.

49.As part of the provisional Finance Settlement on 13th December it was 
announced that the Council will receive funding of £1.144m relating to the 
surplus generated on the 2018/19 Business Rate Levy Account held by Central 
Government. This money is un-ringfenced funding and it is therefore proposed to 
use it to partially offset the overall overspend forecast in the current financial 
year.

50. In addition a further £0.885 million was notified in respect of Business Rate relief 
section 31 reconciliation grants for 2017-18.

51.Following notification from one of our district councils, an additional £0.305 
million is due in Business Rate income relating to renewable energy 
schemes. 

52.During the year it was intended to utilise the one-off saving from the Pension 
Past Service Deficit budget allocation to support a number of initiatives. Many of 
these initiatives were funded in year by service area budgets therefore there was 
an underspend of £1.298 million on this budget – this position assumes that the 
proposed transfer of £0.440 million to the Transformation Reserve to fund the 
new payments system is approved.

53.There is also a favourable variance forecast underspend on a number of 
corporate budgets totalling £1.350 million.

Business Rates Retention Pilot

54.The Council was part of a 100% Business Rate Retention Pilot during 
2018/19.  This has delivered considerable benefit to the Council, with a gain 
of £8.43 million.  £4.60 million of this gain was allocated within the 2018/19 
Budget and £2.23 million has been allocated to Children’s Services as part of 
the 2019/20 Budget, leaving an additional £1.6 million available. It is 
proposed that this balance is transferred to Rates Retention Reserve.

55.There is also a gain for the Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF) of 
£3.45 million. This will be transferred to the Rates Retention Reserve and 
ring fenced for the SEDF.  Use of the money will be considered by the 
Gloucestershire Joint Economic Committee.

2018/19 One-Off Budget Allocations

Page 53



10

56.As part of the 2018/19 budget setting process £6.303 million of one-off 
investments were approved – see table below. The unspent elements of 
these investments are fully committed in 2019/20 so it is recommended that a 
total of £1.934 million is carried forward.

One-off Budget Funding Adjustments Budget Outturn
Carry 
Forward

£,000s £,000s £,000s
Adults

1,000 0 1,000

1,000 0 1,000

Children & Families
1,123 1,123 0

2,600 2,600 0

3,723 3,723 0
Public Health & Wellbeing

50 50 0

50 50 0
Communities & Infrastructure

530 530 0

530 34 496

470 32 438

1,530 596 934

Total One-off Funding 18-19 6,303 4,369 1,934

Additional One-off funding to offset demand pressures funded 
from the additional Business Rate Retention Pilot Income

Additional One-off investment in the Highways Local Scheme 
funded from the additional Business Rates Retention Pilot 
Income.

Additional One-off investment in Electric Vehicle Infrastructure 
funded from the additional Business Rates Retention Pilot 
Income.

Additional one-off funding to support the implementation of the 
Ofsted Improvement Plan

Supporting People- Commission the provision of community 
based support to distribute sanitary products to the most 
vulnerable women presenting for our services to be funded from 
the Active Communities reserve.(One off funding)

Additional one off investment in the Lengthsman Scheme in 
2018/19 until it is incorporated in the new Highways contract- 
Funded from the Transformation Reserve

Additional One-off funding to offset demand pressures funded 
from the additional Business Rate Retention Pilot Income

B. Delivery of Meeting the Challenge 3 Savings Programme

57.At the end of Quarter 4 and therefore the first year of the current savings 
programme, we are reporting £18.345 million delivered against a 2018/19 
target of £18.686 million. This represents 98.2% of the annual target 
achieved. See table below.

58.All of the £0.341 million shortfall has been covered in-year by one-off savings 
and underspends. It will roll forward and continue to be reported alongside 
the agreed MTFS savings targets for 2019/20.

59.Additionally, there was an outstanding saving of £3.305 million yet to be 
achieved from MTC2, of which, £1.283 million has now been achieved. The 
most significant element of the shortfall relates to Public Health. In 2018/19 
this is being offset by the Public Health reserve. The longer term plan is to 

Page 54



11

address the shortfall with a review of services for 0-19 year olds across 
Children’s Services & Public Health.

Programme/Project
18/19 

savings 
target

Achieved Not 
Achieved Notes

MTC2 rollovers  £,000 £,000  
Children & 
Families 150 0 150

Now expected to deliver in 20/21 with 
the Public Health joint review.

Children & 
Families & Public 
Health 2,496 1,059 1,437

Achieved planned savings for 18/19, 
budget position maintained using PH 
reserves. Planned to be delivered 19/20 
& 20/21. 

Education 93 93 0  
ICT 131 131 0  
Adults Mental 
Health (previously 
under Supporting 
People) 435 0 435

Delayed until 2020/21, but plans in 
place to cover the budget position.

Page 55



12

Total MTC2 3,305 1,283 2,022  
Current 

programme     

Education 350 304 46

The in-year position will be covered by 
underspends elsewhere, and the 
remaining savings picked up in 2019/20

Adults Single 
Programme 11,561 11,561 0  

Public Health 641 641 0  

Supporting People 541 323 218

Delays in delivering savings will be 
covered in the overall budget position 
in-year. 

Parking 50 50 0  
Integrated 
Transport 50 50 0  
Libraries 50 50 0  

Waste 167 90 77

Plans are in place to cover the budget 
position in year. Currently re-profiling 
savings options to recover in 19/20. 

Infrastructure 
Planning 50 50 0  
Fire & Rescue 
Service 160 160 0  
Support services 396 396 0  
Commercial 
approach 250 250 0  
Strategy & 
Challenge 20 20 0  
Corporate & 
Technical 4,400 4,400 0  

Total Current 18,686 18,345 341
Total MTC2 + 
Current 21,991 19,628 2,363

C. Reserves

60. Full details of all reserve movements in 2018/19 are shown in the table at annex 1 
with the summary position outlined below:

Type of Revenue Reserves Balance at
1st April 2018

£000

Balance at
31st March 2019

£000

Earmarked Revenue Reserves – Non 
Schools

119,317 135,014

Earmarked Reserves – Schools 20,520 18,263

General Fund Balances 18,520 18,520

TOTAL REVENUE RESERVES 158,357 171,797

Page 56



13

61.Earmarked reserves non schools have increased in year by £15.697 to £135.014 
million. The increase is largely represented by the recommended transfers 
outlined within this report.  

62.Within Earmarked Reserves-Schools movement, DSG balances have reduced 
by £4.056 million to a deficit position of £0.817 million. An action plan is currently 
being developed with the Schools Forum to address future funding pressures. 
This has been offset by an in year increase of specific school balances of £1.799 
million to £19.080 million.

63.General Reserves remain unaltered at £18.520 million at the end of 2018/19. 
This reserve represents 4.43% of the net revenue budget for 2018/19, which is 
within the target range of between 4% and 6% of the net budget.

64. In additional Capital Reserves used to support the approved capital programme 
are as follows:

Balance at
1st April 2018

£000

Balance at
31st March 2019

£000
Total Capital Reserves 83,077 122,370

These Capital Reserves are fully committed to funding the approved capital 
programme – see Annex 1.

D. Schools

65.Details of maintained school ring fenced balances movements are provided in 
annex 2.

66.The Schools Fair Funding scheme allows schools to carry forward, from one 
financial year to the next, any surplus or shortfall in expenditure, relative to the 
school’s budget share for the year, plus/minus any balance brought forward from 
the previous year.

67.After transferring six balances due to academy conversions, the key figures to 
note between the March 2018 and March 2019 position are:

68.Total Maintained School Balances increased by £1.8 million (10.7%) made up of:

 Revenue Balance increases of £0.9 million (5.5%)
 Capital Balance increases of £1.4 million (184.1%). (Note: The capital 

increase is mainly due to additional funding that was allocated by central 
government near the end of 2018/19).

 Academy transfers decreased the balances by £0.4 million.

The number of schools with a revenue surplus or deficit at the end of March 
2019 is summarised below.

Page 57



14

69.  The Council works closely with deficit schools to support them returning to a 
balance budget position.

 A Deficits Officer Group meets monthly to review the position of every 
deficit school and make decisions on whether additional support or 
intervention is needed. The group consists of: Head of Education 
Strategy and Development, Head of Education Outcomes and 
Intervention, HR Business Partner (School intervention), Schools 
Finance Team Accountant, and Senior Area Finance Officer (SAFO).

 All schools in deficit are required to submit a recovery plan showing 
how and when they will to return to a balanced budget. Schools with 
their own local bank account also submit monthly bank statements and 
cash-flow forecasts. Plans and submissions are analysed and 
monitored against frequently.

 Members of the group will visit schools and attend Governing body 
meetings where appropriate to offer support or ensure engagement in 
the deficit recovery process.

 If necessary the Head of Education Strategy and Development will add 
to or replace governing body representatives and can in extreme 
circumstances implement financial sanctions upon a school or remove 
delegated powers if improvements are not being made.

 Funds are de-delegated from maintained primary school budgets for 
targeted intervention and support work which contributes towards the 
groups work with deficit schools.

E. Debt Write-offs

70.During 2018/19 debts totalling £264,454 were written off (compared to £348,742 
in 2017/18). A detailed analysis of debts written off during 2018/19 is provided at 
Annex 3.  The cost of write offs is included in the outturn expenditure.  Debts are 
only written off if they are irrecoverable and all reasonable steps have been 
taken to recover the money owing, including legal action.  

71.All services have reviewed their debts, taken legal advice and where necessary 
produced the relevant documentation to write off the debt in accordance with the 
Council’s debt policy.

Page 58



15

F. Overdue Invoices

72.Annex 4 provides a summary of the £5.747 million of overdue (more than 30 
days old) debt as at 31st March 2019. This compares to £4.761 million at 31st 
March 2018.

The majority of this increase results from:
 Invoicing for additional operational costs related to the 2gether NHS 

Foundation Trust in the latter part of 2018/19 (c. £0.042 million)
 An increase in social care debt of £0.548 million

G. Capital Expenditure 2018/19

Outturn 2018/19

73.The re-profiled capital budget for 2018/19 totalled £101.387 million reflecting new 
approvals recommended in this report. The outturn position for 2018/19 is 
£93.235 million, giving in year slippage of £8.152 million. 

74.Details of the re-profiled budgets and outturn position, analysed by service area, 
are provided in the table below with commentary and main reasons for the 
outturn position provided in the following sections.  

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2018/19

Service Area

Reprofiled 
Budget 
2018/19

Outturn 
Spend 
2018/19

Year-end 
Variance Spend %

£000 £000 £000 %
Capital Receipts Works Before Sale 211 211 0
Adults 8,356 4,568 -3,788 55
Children & Families 24,212 24,354 142 101
Communities
Highways 51,716 49,815 -1,901 96
Strategic Infrastructure 1,984 1,813 -170 91
Waste Disposal 625 702 77 112
Libraries 752 701 -51 93
Fire & Rescue 1,027 643 -384 63
Business Support
AMPS 8,285 8,018 -266 97
ICT projects 2,486 1,397 -1,089 56
Business Service Centre 282 0 -282 0
Archives & Information Mgnt 1,155 751 -404 65
Customer 294 260 -34 88
Total 101,387 93,235 -8,152 92

Financing of Capital Expenditure 2018/19

Page 59



16

Financing applied to the £93.235 million 
capital spend: £000

GCC Revenue Contributions 2,411
Capital Receipts 11,735
Capital Fund 3,929
Reserves 1,169
Grants 51,749
External Contributions e.g. developers 12,241
Internal Borrowing 10,000

Total 93,235

75.The Government financial regulations require local authorities to charge a 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) each year as a proxy for capital repayments. 
For 2018/19 the MRP for the Council was £6.88 million.

76.Managing borrowing effectively remains a priority of the Council. Borrowing 
levels at the end of 2018/19 was £305.188 million, an increase of £3.112 million 
compared with the position at the end of 2017/18.  This is due to additional 
capital schemes included in the programme funded from borrowing offset by loan 
repayments as loans mature..  This increased borrowing has been held internally 
to offset the additional borrowing costs that would otherwise be incurred.

Capital Outturn 2018/19: Reasons for the major variances.

Adults Capital Programme 2018/19

77.The Adults outturn spend was £4.568 million in 2018/19 against the revised 
budget of £8.356 million, resulting in slippage of £3.788 million. The main 
reasons for this are detailed below:

 Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) – slippage of £2.231 million mainly caused by 
underspends by district councils on traditional DFGs. Despite good progress 
in many areas some key actions have been delayed for a variety of reasons, 
contributing to the overall underspend of the partner monies. 

The County Council, under the arrangements in place to meet the 
requirements of the Better Care Fund, hosts the county DFG budget on 
behalf of and in partnership with the six District Authorities and the Clinical 
Commissioning Group.  The arrangement to pool the DFG funding is 
supported through a Strategic Housing Partnership and Memorandum of 
Understanding between all parties.  District Authorities remain accountable 
for the delivery of effective grants to adapt housing, with the remaining pool 
enabling the county housing action plan to support people to remain 
independent, reducing demand on statutory services and negative impacts on 
the local economy. 

DFGs are one part of a whole system approach to supporting older people 
and those living with disabilities to remain independent, in control of their own 

Page 60



17

lives and to provide greater choice and access to technology and equipment 
in the home.  The housing portfolio within the Integrated Commissioning team 
now includes equipment and technology to support greater linkage and joint 
working in this area, whether on individual homes or in terms of working with 
developers and planners on the opportunities for new builds into the future. 
 To date the DFG underspend has been used to offset the overspend in the 
county wide pooled equipment budget.  It is proposed the same arrangement 
is entered into for 2018/19, while the integrated approach to delivery of the 
joint action plan will afford increased opportunities for savings in traditional 
equipment provision into the future.   

 Community Capacity Grant – slippage of £0.777 million, caused by funding 
earmarked for the ERIC replacement not being required in year (see below 
for details) and funding originally earmarked for a replacement telephony 
system for the Adults Help Desk being replaced by revenue funding for a 
lower cost approach, as approved by Cabinet in April.

 ERIC replacement (new Adult Social Care system) – slippage of £0.589 
million, caused by unforeseen delays in the procurement process. The 
contract has now been awarded and payments will commence in the first 
quarter of 2019/20.

Children & Families Capital Programme 2018/19

78.The Children & Families outturn spend was £24.354 million in 2018/19 against 
the revised budget of £24.212 million, giving an in-year overspend of £0.142 
million. This is due to various schemes progressing ahead of schedule, offset by 
slippage on other schemes. This will have no impact on the overall cost of the 
schemes.

Communities Capital Programme 2018/19

Highways

79.Highways schemes spent £49.815 million in 2018/19, against the revised budget 
of £51.716 million, resulting in slippage of £1.901 million.

80.£2.818 million slippage relates to Structural Maintenance schemes. The 
carriageway programme was delivered in full with the exception of a very limited 
number of schemes where external factors prevented the works taking place. 
Substantial savings were also realised on several schemes that were delivered 
at year end which resulted in the carriageway outturn being £549k under budget. 
Amey were unable to complete delivery of the Minor Works and Footway 
programmes resulting in underspends of £621k and £288k respectively. 
Disruption to the traffic signal programme caused by a gas leak and the late 
completion of the major Metz Way scheme resulted in a £308k underspend 
whilst delays to completion of Street Lighting LED scheme resulted in £832k of 
budget being carried forward into 2019/20.

Page 61



18

81.Delivery of £0.272 million of Integrated Transport schemes has slipped into 
2019/20. A number of schemes have been unable to be completed by year end 
but a significant amount of the underspend relates to recently received external 
contribution which were not planned to be used in 2018/19.

82.Delivery of large Integrated Transport Schemes including Growth Fund schemes 
has exceeded the current year budget by £1.199 million. This is principally due to 
an early start to the design of the Cyber Park Highways scheme. Approved 
funding is available to fund this in year overspend.

83.Slippage of £0.009 million relates to Depot works which were forecast to be 
delivered before the start of the new highways contracts, but this was not able to 
be completed by Year End.

Strategic Infrastructure 

84.Strategic Infrastructure schemes spent £1.813million in 2018/19, against the 
revised budget of £1.984 million, resulting in slippage of £0.170 million. £0.078 
million of this relates to delays on Flood Alleviation schemes where European 
funding (ESIF) influences the scheduling and Property Level Resilience projects 
where the household surveys revealed that the proposed measures were not 
necessarily going to provide the level of benefit intended, further work will be 
carried out in consultation with the local residents in the new year. £0.140 million 
relates to the Fastershire scheme where delivery challenges that have caused 
slippage in settling contractor claims. Focus remains on utilising government 
investment funds first, over GCC funds, so still essential that all ‘in year’ budget 
savings are carried forward to support future years delivery, recognising that the 
GCC allocation forms part of the required ‘match funding’ to the front loaded 
BDUK (Govt) funds. There is also £0.048 million in year overspend against the 
Saturn Transport Modelling is because the full cost of the Saturn model has been 
accrued and allocated against 2018-19 in error. As a result the credit held in 
2019-20 will be there to offset the costs when invoiced in the new financial year.

Waste

85.Waste schemes have spent £0.702 million in 2018/19, against a current budget 
of £0.625 million, giving an overspend of £0.077 million. This is as a result of 
works at the Hempsted HRC being completed earlier than anticipated, approved 
budget is already available to fund this spend.

Libraries

86.Libraries schemes have spent £0.701 million in 2018/19, against a current 
budget of £0.752 million, resulting an in year underspend of £0.051 million. 
£0.031 million of this relates to reduced refurbishments costs and will release 
funding for additional works in the next financial year. The remaining £0.020 
million is slippage on the Growth Hub project where testing has delayed roll-out 
until the new financial year.

Community Safety 

Page 62



19

87.Fire and Rescue Schemes spent £0.643 million in 2018/19, against a current 
budget of £1.027 million, resulting in slippage of £0.384 million. £0.300 million is 
due to contract paperwork for the Personal Protection Equipment scheme taking 
longer than anticipated to process; as a result the supplier was not be able to 
deliver in 2018-19. The remaining £0.084 million is partly as a result of costs 
against Appliance and Equipment schemes being slightly lower than originally 
anticipated and slight slippage on the BA project and Light Fleet vehicles.

Business Support Capital Programme 2018/19

Asset Management and Property Services

88.AMPS schemes have spent £8.018 million in 2018/19, against a current budget 
of £8.285 million, resulting in a slippage of £0.266 million. This relates to a delay 
in works to the Cirencester Area Office pending a decision on the future 
occupation of the building as well as completion of archaeological works on the 
Quayside Site development.

ICT projects

89.The ICT schemes have spent £1.397 million of a budget of £2.486 million 
resulting in a forecast slippage of £1.089 million. This relates to delays in delivery 
of a number of schemes. The three schemes reporting the largest slippage are 
£0.129 million on the ‘Email messaging phase 2’ scheme where milestone 
payments have slipped over the end of the financial year due to resourcing 
issues. £0.121 million slippage due to technical delays for the telephony project.  
Also £0.228 million on the WAN replacement project, the new WAN Invitation to 
Tender has undergone extensive review based on evolving business 
requirements and reflecting new market offerings. Meetings have taken place 
with Commercial Services and specialist external resources to determine the 
new procurement strategy, we hope to procure and implement early in the new 
financial year.

Business Service Centre

90.The BSC schemes have spent £0.002 million in 2018/19, against a current 
budget of £0.282 million, reporting slippage of £0.280 million. This is mainly as a 
result of the detailed specification for the invoice scanning and document storage 
system taking longer than expected to finalise and, hence, delaying the start of 
the procurement process. Decisions have recently been taken on this and the 
middleware projects which will result in expenditure in the first half of 2019/20.

Archives & Information Management

91.The Archives scheme has spent £0.726 million in 2018/19, against a current 
budget of £1.150 million, resulting in forecast slippage of £0.424 million. There 
have been unavoidable delays to the For the Record Archive project as the 
original contractor went into administration. The Information Management overall 
the programme is within budget. There has been accelerated delivery of the 
Information Asset Register Database scheme which was completed by Sopra 
Steria earlier than anticipated.

Page 63



20

Customer

92.The Customer schemes have spent £0.260 million in 2018/19, against a current 
budget of £0.294 million, resulting in forecast slippage of £0.034 million This is 
due to delays in ‘report it’ development now due to be completed by August 
2019.

Changes to the Capital Programme in 2018/19 and future years

Adults

93.Disabled Facilities Grant – The approved capital programme includes an 
indicative figure of £5.589 million for the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) in 
2019/20. The Council has now received its actual allocation from the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government of £6.030 million. It is proposed to 
increase the DFG budget by £0.441 million to reflect the increase in the grant 
allocation.

Children & Families 

94. It is recommended that Cabinet approves a revenue contribution of £0.120 
million to the Trevone House refurbishment project as a result of additional 
slippage in the IRIS project in 2018/19. This reduces the planned revenue 
contribution in 2019/20 by £0.120 million. The net impact on the capital 
programme is nil.

Communities & Infrastructure

95. It is recommended that Cabinet approves an increase of £0.439 million in the 
Highway capital budget; this is to reflect the following. 

96.Additional funding of £0.332 million Highways Locals contributions has been 
committed to schemes completed during 2018-19 and £0.130 million of 
Developer Contributions towards 2019-20 schemes.

97.Highways Maintenance Incentive Element DfT Grant – The approved capital 
programme includes an indicative figure of £3.012 million for the Highways 
Maintenance Incentive Element in 2019/20. The Council has now received its 
actual allocation from the Department of Transport of £2.989 million, therefore a 
decrease of £0.023 million in the grant allocation.

Business Support

98. It is recommended that Cabinet approves an increase of £0.211 million in the 
Works before Sale capital budget, funded from capital receipts due to work 
required to increase the value of sales.

99. It is recommended that Cabinet approves an increase of £0.020 million in the 
AMPS capital budget, funded from a revenue contribution towards the College 
Yard Gloucester Contact Centre scheme.

Page 64



21

100. It is recommended that Cabinet approves an increase of £0.190 million in the 
Archives capital budget, funded from a revenue contribution towards the Alvin 
Street Extension - For the Record scheme.

Overall

101. As a result of the above recommendations, the overall capital programme will 
increase by £1.301 million.

Page 65



22

Annex 1 

Earmarked Revenue Reserves Balance at 
31st March 

2018

Transfers Out 
2018/19

Transfers In     
2018/19

Balance at 
31st March 

2019

Notes

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Strategic Waste Reserve 38,779 -455 2,534 40,858 This is a smoothing reserve relating to the full life contract of the EFW project. 
Fire Joint Training Centre 1,119 -37 - 1,082 This is a smoothing reserve relating to the full life contract for the Fire Training Centre.

Fire PFI Reserve- GRFS 3,296 - 244 3,540 This is a smoothing reserve relating to the full life contract for the Fire Stations PFI.

Insurance Fund 11,981 -4,077 5,344 13,248 Insurance Fund levels are based on external professional actuarial review and advice to mitigate GCC's insurance liability.

Capital Fund 14,027 -4,145 5,858 15,740 This reserve is used for capital financing and is fully committed to fund schemes approved under the Council's Capital Programme. 

Transformation Reserve 2,247 -793 4,158 5,612 This reserve funds the transformation required for the Council to make sustainable savings. This includes a specific allocation of £0.05 million  for 
Vision 2050 working fund.

County Elections 308 - 207 515 This reserve is to smooth the cost of funding the council elections.

Vehicle & Plant Replacement 82 -82 - 0 This reserve is to support the purchase of vehicle and plant. 

Fire Service Pensions 127 - - 127 The reserve is to support any potential liabilities under the Fire Service pension schemes.

Active Communities 402 -50 - 352 This reserve has been established to meet the Council's strategy to provide support for people to do more for themselves, their families and 
communities without the Council having to intervene. 

Invest to Save 2,660 -940 558 2,278 This reserve is fully committed to invest to save projects eg: Salix loan grants initiative for energy saving projects; Photovolaic PV panels for Shire 
Hall ;ICT improvements. 

Education Funding Risk Reserve 500 - - 500 This reserve was established to smooth the impact from schools becoming academies.

Economic Stimulus Reserve 4,496 -193 158 4,461 The Economic Stimulus Reserve is fully committed to fund: Rural Broadband ; Apprentices ; Grow Gloucestershire.

Pubic Health 1,998 -1,123 - 875 Public Health is a ring fenced grant, and this ring fenced reserve was established in accordance with national grant conditions to carry forward any 
unspent balances from the annual grant received from Government.

Vulnerable Children Reserve 1,603 -1,217 - 386 The reserve offsets demand-led pressures in children's services. 

Contractual Commitments

Technical Funding ReservesP
age 66



23

Earmarked Revenue Reserves Balance at 
31st March 

2018

Transfers Out 
2018/19

Transfers In     
2018/19

Balance at 
31st March 

2019

Notes

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Adult Care Reserve 3693 -1421 3,147 5,419 This reserve provides funding to mitigate demand risk in Adult Social Care, given given the continuing concern about the volatility in demand and the 

pressure across the health and social care economy. 

Growing Our Communities Reserve 1590 -378 - 1,212 Growing Our Communities Fund – this fund will allow each Councillor to allocate £30,000 over a three year period to invest in key community 
projects.

People Services Reserve 713 -713 - 0 The reserve offsets demand-led pressures in People services. 

Home to School Transport Reserve 300 -136 - 164 This reserve is to smooth the impact changes in schools days year to year on home to school transport.

A417 Missing Link Reserve 2,992 -227 161 2,926 This reserve has been established to support pre development work on the A417 project to be undertaken.

Rates Retention Reserve 2,960 -604 7,275 9,631 This reserve was established to cover the Council against a potential funding shortfall in business rate income, given the volatility of the scheme and 
the deficit experienced in 2015/16.The reserve also holds £0.515 million ringfenced for economic development projhects within the County.

Revenue Grant Reserves 17,769 -13,138 16,071 20,702 The Revenue Grants Reserve is a technical reserve for specific unapplied revenue grants and contributions, where conditions related to the monies 
have been met but expenditure has not been incurred. The monies remained ring fenced and fully committed.  This reserve is prepared in 
accordance with the Accounting Code of Practice issued annually by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, which the Council 
is legally required to follow.

Communities & Infrastructure Reserve 518 -988 1,554 1,084 The reserve was established to carryforward specific budget under spends.

Traded & Shared Audit Services 
Reserve

390 -73 93 410 This reserve was established to mitigate against any loss in traded income, and invest in services to generate more traded income.

LED Renewables Reserve 463 - - 463 This reserve was established to provide budget support for the LED renewables project.

Highways Act Comuted Sums 
Reserve

2,048 -30 73 2,091 This reserve was established to provide budget support to Services to Families with Young Children committed in 2017/18.

IRIS Project Reserve 825 -825 - 0 This reserve was established to provide budget support for the IRIS project.

Minimum Wage Reserve 1,000 - - 1,000 This reserve was established to provide budget support for increases in the cost of employment and engagement with partners.

Other Reserves 431 -93 - 338 A number of small miscellaneous reserves eg:Minerals & Local Waste;disputed capital receipts;occupational health.
Total Earmarked Reserves 119,317 -31,738 47,435 135,014

School Balances 17,215 -17,215 19,062 19,062 This reserve represents ring fenced balances held by individual schools carried forward to support future years expenditure.

Other Schools Related 66 -66 18 18 This represents a number of specific ring fenced school related reserves, including balances carryforward for the Dedicated Schools Grant.

Dedicated School Grant Reserve 3,239 -3,239 -817 -817 This represents balances carryforward for the Dedicated Schools Grant. The fund is currently in a deficit position and an action plan is being 
developed in association with the Schools Forum to address future funding pressures.

Total School Related Reserves 20,520 -20,520 18,263 18,263

Total 139,837 -52,258 65,698 153,277

General Fund Balances 18,520 - - 18,520 General balances protect the Council from unknown risks including any overall Council over spend.

Total Revenue Reserves 158,357 -52,258 65,698 171,797

Schools Related

P
age 67



24

Earmarked Capital Reserves Balance at 
31st March 

2018

Transfers Out 
2018/19

Transfers In     
2018/19

Balance at 
31st March 

2019

Notes

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Capital Grant Reserves 50,871 -60,538 102,143 92,476 This technical reserve relates to unspent capital grants and contributions, which are fully committed to funding the Council's approved Capital 

Programme. 

Capital Receipts Unapplied 
Reserves 

32,206 -11,767 9,455 29,894 This reserve reflects capital receipts, which are fully committed to funding the approved capital programme.

Total Capital Reserves 83,077 -72,305 111,598 122,370

P
age 68



25

Page 69



26

Page 70



27

Annex 3
Summary of Debts Written Off - April 2018 to March 2019

As required by Financial Regulations, this is the annual summary of debts written off during the previous financial year.

Debts are only put forward for write off if the debt is deemed irrecoverable and after all reasonable steps have been taken to recover the 
money owing, including legal action.

The table below shows the number and value of debts written off during 2018/19, which represents 2.8% of the total outstanding debt at 
31st March 2019.

Write off Summary 2018/19
           £1 - £4,999    £5000 - £9,999   Over £10,000          Total
 No. of 
Debtors 

£  No. of 
Debtors 

£  No. of 
Debtors 

£  No. of 
Debtors 

£

Commissioning, Adult Services 122 128,778 6 44,342 3 43,921 131 217,041
Public Health 0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0
Children & Families 87 10,843 2 13,369 1 11,809 90 36,021
Communities & Instrastructure 18 9,822 0 0 0 - 18 9,822
Business Support Services 4 135 0 0 0 - 4 135
Other / Tech & Corp 21 1,435 0 0 0 - 21 1,435

Totals (excludes VAT) 252 151,013 8 57,711 4 55,730 264 264,454

P
age 71



28

Annex 4
Summary of Overdue Debt as at 31st March 2019

No. of Days Total 31 - 60 61 - 90 91 - 180 181 - 365 More than 365
£ £ £ £ £ £

Commissioning, Adult services 5,050,797 370,078 469,582 1,052,766 943,812 2,214,559 

Prevention and Wellbeing Hub 15,195 1,098 111 11,699 0 2,287 

Children & Families 202,590 51,468 40,763 22,858 28,931 58,570 

Communities & Infrastructure 233,745 121,449 35,221 60,794 7,550 8,731 

Business Support Services 202,615 111,448 7,735 19,372 17,739 46,321 

Other 42,067 -5,623 -16,938 -650 10,099 55,180 

Totals 5,747,009 649,917 536,475 1,166,839 1,008,130 2,385,648 

P
age 72



Finance Update
Purpose of Report:  To provide an update on the County Council's Revenue & Capital 

outturn expenditure for 2019/20.

Officer:                      Paul Blacker, Director of Finance (01452) 3258999
                Paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Revenue Expenditure 2019/20

A. Revenue Forecast  Outturn Position 2019/20

1. The current forecast of the year end revenue position against the revenue budget of 
£429.661 million, based on actual expenditure at the end of May 2019 and forecasts 
made in June 2019 is a £2.956 million overspend, 0.69% of the budget.

2. Details of the forecast year end position, analysed by service area is provided in the 
table below and the narrative that follows.

Page 73

mailto:Paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position as at the end of May 2019

Variance

%

£000 £000 £000 %

Adults 148,155 148,155 0 0.0%

Prevention & Wellbeing 33,342 33,348 6 0.0%

Children & Families 113,851 121,278 7,427 6.5%

Communities & 
Infrastructure

72,305 72,615 310 0.4%

GFRS and Regulatory 
Services

18,245 18,458 213 1.2%

Business Support Services 32,763 32,763 0 0.0%

Support Services 
Recharges

-32,763 -32,763 0 0.0%

Total for Services 385,898 393,854 7,956 2.1%

Technical & Corporate 43,763 38,763 -5,000 -11.4%

Total 429,661 432,617 2,956 0.69%

Service Area
2019/20 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn 
Position

Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance

Adult Social Care

3. Adult Social Care is reporting a balanced position.  This forecast includes £2.530 
million of Additional Social Care "Winter Pressures" funding and is achieved by 
using £2.482 million from Adult Care Reserves.  There is no formal request being 
made to Cabinet to use any of the Adults reserves at this stage - this will be done 
if and when there is greater certainty about the amount of reserve required to 
support the 2019/20 budget.

4. Adult Social Care reserves currently stand at £6.416 million. It should be noted 
that only £2.654 million of this total is held purely as a Vulnerable Adults 

Page 74



Reserve.  The balance is specifically set aside for the backdated element of new 
Ordinary Residence cases and additional commitments relating to the National 
Living Wage and the Care Act.   

5. MTFS savings targets of £10.498 million for all client groups are integrated under 
the Adults Single Programme (ASP). For Older People (OP), Physical Disabilities 
(PD) and Learning Disabilities (LD) External Care budgets the impact on 
operational budgets and performance is managed by the Head of Social Care, 
working with Commissioning and Support Service colleagues.  All savings are 
currently treated as being fully achievable – although there are risks around a 
number of these proposals. 

6. LD External Care is forecasting a £0.956 million overspend. The overspend 
relates to increased demand and increased complexity of cases.

7. OP and PD External Care is projecting a £1.420 million overspend.  The split of 
the overspend across individual service budgets shows the OP position as 
£0.848 million and PD £0.572 million. The overspend mainly relates to increased 
care needs for existing cases, ‘voids’ and other additional costs relating to 
externally provided residential homes.

8. The Mental Health forecast is a £1.499 million overspend, of which £0.664 
million is as calculated by the 2Gether NHSFT Finance Team, net of unallocated 
MTFS growth and savings held by the Lead Commissioner.  The budget includes 
MTFS funding for 2019/20 growth and fee increases.  

9. The Community Equipment Service (CES) / Telecare budgets are reporting a 
balanced budget position.    

10.Other Services comprise of all staffing budgets for Adult Social Care, as well as 
a number of specific commissioned contracts.  The forecast position for these 
services nets to a £1.388 million underspend including:

a. £0.949 million significant overspends: £0.826 million MTFS 
Prevention Unallocated due to the reablement saving allocation 
not yet addressed; £0.061 million Proud to Care due to 
permanent funding not identified; £0.062 million Disabilities Hub.

b. £2.239 million significant underspends: £0.118 million LD 
Assessment, Support Planning & Management mainly due to 
vacancies; £0.052 million LD other commissioned services 
relating to employment service budgets; £0.149 million under 
Hospital Care Navigators due to vacancies; £0.567 million 
OP/PD Integrated Social Care Management (ISCM) due largely 
to vacancies; £0.121 million Integrated Brokerage due to 
vacancies; £0.066 million Administration Finance due to a 

Page 75



vacancy; £0.115 million for the Advocacy contract; £0.208 million 
Contact Centre due to vacancies and £0.842 million for the 
OP/PD Reablement Service managed by Gloucestershire Care 
Services due to vacancies. 

c. a number of smaller variances netting to a £0.098 million 
underspend. 

11.Other Services (Unallocated) are reported as balanced. 

Prevention and Wellbeing 

12.Services within this area include Public Health, Supporting People and a number 
of smaller budgets covering the prevention hub team and grants.

13.The current forecast of the year end revenue position is an overspend of £0.006 
million and is due to additional staffing and ICT costs within the prevention hub.

14.Public Health is reporting a balanced position. Services are funded by a ring-
fenced grant, which if unspent is required to be carried forward in a specific 
reserve. The in-year forecast for Public Health is an under-spend of £0.057 
million due to lower commitments against the healthy lifestyles contract.

15.The grant from MHLG for the Rapid Rehousing Pathway has been confirmed as 
£0.710 million for 2019/20. Through our strong local relationships with 
community organisations this funding will be used to rapidly deliver new services 
to reduce rough sleeping, increase the sustainment of tenancy outcomes and 
increase the evidence base for the effectiveness of the Somewhere Safe to Stay 
model. 

Children & Families

16.The current forecast of the year end revenue position as at June 2019 for non-
DSG funded services is an overspend of £7.427 million (6.52% of budget). As in 
2018/19 the overspend is due to higher than expected number of external 
placements and the cost of agency social work staff covering vacancies. 

 
17.At the end of May 2019 children in care numbers were 722 compared to 669 at 

the end of May 2018. This continues to cause significant budgetary pressures on 
children’s services and in particular against the external placement and 
safeguarding staff budgets resulting in the overspend. An efficiency plan is in 
place to reduce the forecast over-spend by £2.427 million down to below £5 
million by the year end. Cost pressures and proposals to achieve this reduction 
in over-spend are set out below.

Page 76



18.The current forecast over-spend against the external placement budget is £4.015 
million (18.5% above budget) which includes a contingency of £3.1 million for 
new cases in-year allowing for additional placements to replace existing care 
commitments or allowing for higher number of placements. The overspend is due 
to a higher number of external placements than anticipated with a current 
average unit cost of £89,500 per annum. There are currently 315 external 
placements, of which 82 are residential and 62 supported living placements. 

19.The review of all high cost placements is continuing on a regular basis as part of 
the wider improvement work ensuring decisions around placement change and 
permanence are executed in timely child centred manner. This will continue to 
reduce the cost of external placements where appropriate including reducing unit 
costs.  Improving social care practice to divert children from care at an earlier 
point and achieve permanence at the earliest opportunity will reduce numbers of 
children in care costs in the longer term. 

20.Against safeguarding staffing budgets there is a forecast overspend of £2.676 
million which is due to the use of agency staff covering for staff vacancies or 
where caseloads remain high. Changes have been made to improve processes 
for recruitment, put in place more effective advertising as well as the launch of 
the social work academy to support the training and development of social 
workers and to improve retention. Turnover of staff has stayed around 17% over 
the last three months and at the end of May there were 148 agency workers in 
post compared to over 180 at times in 2018/19. As newly qualified staff start over 
the next few months and gain experience the number of agency staff will reduce 
resulting in a lower over-spend position.  

21.A higher level of activity is also causing an overspend of £0.463 million in section 
17 and discretionary payments for foster carers. A resource panel is now in place 
to review and agree all significant payments and ensure consistency across 
teams and signpost to other services.

22. In addition to this young peoples support are forecasting a £0.515 million over-
spend due to a number of complex cases and the additional cost of agency staff 
covering vacancies where the cost will reduce as permanent staff are recruited. 

23.There are a number of offsetting variances which include services for children 
with disabilities and education support services that are forecast to under-spend 
by £0.282 million across a number of services.

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position

24.Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be over-spent 
by £4.842 million in 2019/20 which includes the deficit carry forward of £2.884 
million in the high needs block. As reported last year the cost pressures are in 

Page 77



the High Needs Block (forecast over-spend for the block in 2019/20 is £2.518 
million) with over-spends against Independent Special Schools (£1million), top 
ups for primary schools to support Education, Health and Care plans (EHCP) 
(£0.2 million) as well as a deficit in-year budget of £1.192 million; these are all 
caused by increases to activity and reflects the national picture. 

25.The High Needs Strategy approved by Cabinet in January 2019 includes eight 
core activities to address the continuing cost pressures. Working with schools 
and the School Forum, these activities will include focusing on a new approach 
to exclusions and improvement of the graduated pathway and EHCP process. 
The specialist commissioning team are also continuing to work to reduce the 
cost of placements where appropriate. The budget pressures that 
Gloucestershire is facing reflects the national picture with significant deficits in 
DSG high needs being held in many Local Authorities with lobbying continuing 
for additional funding. Without additional funding it is unlikely that the DSG ring 
fenced grant can be brought back into balance in the near future resulting 
potentially in a financial risk to the Council. A 5 year recovery plan is being 
developed. 

Communities & Infrastructure 

26.Communities and Infrastructure are currently reporting a forecast of £0.310 
million overspend (0.4% of total budget). 

27.Waste are forecasting an net overspend of £0.357 million in total which is made 
up from £0.412 million overspend against recycling credit payments, £0.047 
million HRC overspend, £0.090 million of increased income and £0.012 million 
underspend - as summarised in the following two paragraphs.

28.Recycling tonnages are growing at a faster rate than anticipated and each tonne 
of additional recycling attracts a recycling credit payment which results in a 
forecast overspend against the credit payment budget.  If recycling tonnages 
reduced this would reduce the value of recycling credit payments but would 
increase the amount of residual waste that has to be processed which costs 
more per tonne than the recycling credit payment. In the medium term the 
Council is looking at options to reduce demand by renegotiating the incentives 
payment levels and reviewing payments to third parties. The payment of general 
recycling credits to waste collection authorities will continue to be subject to 
statutory and tonnage based growth.  

29.There has been a £0.047 million overspend against the Household Recycling 
Centres due to unexpected costs that incurred during 18/19 being invoiced in this 
financial year.  The overspend has been offset by £0.090 million of additional 
income forecasted against landfill royalty payments and £0.012 million of 
underspend on other waste areas

Page 78



30.Highways Commissioning are reporting a £0.033 million underspend position 
which is made up of various small underspends over a number of areas.  Parking 
is currently reporting a balanced position however income is being closely 
monitored to manage the risk of a year end variance.

31.All other areas – Libraries, Registrars, Integrated Transport Unit (ITU),  and 
Strategic Infrastructure are reporting a break even position however it should be 
noted that ITU continues to monitor new contract prices in order to manage the 
risk of an overspend. There is a small underspend position of £0.014 million 
reported in the corporate area relating to staff vacancies.

 
32.Following on from Cabinets decision in June 2018 to join the Western Gateway 

Shadow Sub-National Transport Body (WGSSTB) the Council has taken the role 
of the Lead Authority which has Accountable Body responsibilities.  The lead 
authority are able to recoup administration costs and the resource required has 
been identified within existing resources for the majority of the work and any 
specialist resources required will be funded from the partnership.

Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service & Regulatory Services

33.  The Fire and Rescue Service shows a forecast overspend of £0.213 million.  
The overspend is mainly a result of changes to employer’s superannuation on 
fire pension schemes where contributions increased from 21.7% to 37.3% for 
1992 scheme and 14.3% to 28.8% on the 2015 scheme.  A grant has been 
received but only covers 90% of the costs.  

34.A 3% pay award has been budgeted for although the actual increase has not yet 
been agreed.

35.Trading Standards and the Coroner’s Service are anticipating an on target 
position.

36.At the full council meeting of 26th June 2019 members unanimously supported 
the motion to fund the transportation costs for key stage 2 and 3 children to 
attend SkillZONE.  Prior to 2016 SkillZONE received funding to subsidise the 
transport costs for children to attend the centre - this resulted in over 16,000 
children attending the centre and 500 ‘New Journey’ ambassadors being trained 
who went on to educate 3000 year 7 students in safe travel as they transitioned 
to secondary school.  Numbers of children attending have reduced significantly 
since this funding was withdrawn - last year only 4500 children attended which is 
predominantly due to the travel costs to get them to the centre.  In order to 
improve the safety of primary school and year 7 children and to maximise the 
potential capacity of SkillZONE it is proposed that subsidised travel be 
reintroduced, on a targeted basis, to transport 5000 primary school and 600 year 

Page 79



8 children per year to the centre to directly receive training and to become New 
Journey travel ambassadors to educate a further 3500 year 7 children across 
Gloucestershire in a full year.  The cost of this is £0.040 million to subsidise 
travel for 5000 children and £0.008 million to train 600 ambassadors to educate 
a further 3500 children in a full year. It is therefore proposed to allocate £0.028 
million to GFRS from the Transformation Reserve to fund the part year impact 
(September 2019 to March 2020) in the current financial year 

Business Support Services

37.The forecast outturn for Business Support Services is a balanced position. 

38.Strategy & Challenge are forecasting a balanced position. This position takes 
into account the risk around income targets which are being actively managed. 
Extraordinary legal child protection cases, where demand continues to increase, 
will continue to be funded corporately. A strategy to actively manage the 
recruitment and retention of suitably qualified and experienced Child Protection 
Lawyers is in place. 

Technical and Cross Cutting

39.The forecast outturn position for Technical and Corporate budgets is a £5.0 
million underspend (11.43% of budget). The main areas of variance relate to:-

40.Positive interest rate credits on cash balances totalling £2.22 million, reflecting 
better diversification of investments and longer term deposits.

41.When the 2019/20 Budget was agreed in February 2019 a number of 
government funding streams had not been finalised due to the timings of 
announcements.  These funding streams have now been confirmed and have 
resulted in slightly more central funding than originally estimated.  In total, £2.78 
million more will be received from s31 grants as a result of changes that central 
government have made to business rates, known as Business Rates Autumn 
Statement Grant for 2019/20.  These changes to funding are managed within the 
Technical and Corporate budgets for the Council.

B.  Capital Expenditure

Current Spend 2019/20

42.The capital budget for 2019/20 is £121.537 million.  Actual spend against the 
capital programme as at the end of May 2019 is £6.045 million. 

Page 80



Budget and Capital Forecast Outturn Position 2019/20

43.The forecast outturn position for 2019/20 is £122.684 million giving an in year 
overspend position of £1.147 million.

44.Details of the budgets, forecast year end position, analysed by service area, and 
key factors considered in producing this forecast position are provided in the 
table below and the narrative that follows. 

 
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2019/20

Service Area

Reprofiled 
Budget 
2019/20

Current 
Year 

Spend 
2019/20

% Current 
Year 

Spend 
against 

Reprofiled 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn 
2019/20

Forecast 
Year-end 
Variance

£000 £000 % £000 £000
Capital Receipts Works Before Sale 0 0 0 0

Adults 7,090 744 10 7,090 0

Children & Families 27,824 2,679 10 27,824 0

Communities
Highways 53,807 1,994 4 54,954 1,147
Strategic Infrastructure 2,125 58 3 2,125 0
Waste Disposal 1,228 41 3 1,228 0
Libraries 909 2 0 909 0
Fire & Rescue 600 0 0 600 0
Business Support
AMPS 17,570 100 1 17,570 0
ICT projects 8,380 155 2 8,380 0
Business Service Centre 631 0 0 631 0
Archives & Information Management 739 266 36 739 0
Customer 634 6 1 634 0

Total 121,537 6,045 5 122,684 1,147

Highways Capital Programme

45.Highways schemes are forecast to spend £54.954 million in 2019/20 against the 
current budget of £53.807 million, giving a forecast overspend of £1.147 million.    
This forecast overspend will be funded by the proposed increase in funding 
detailed below.

Other Services Capital Programmes

46.All other services are forecast to spend in line with the current budgets.

Changes to the Capital Programme in 2019/20 and future years

Page 81



Children and Families 

47.Details of a proposed increase of £0.206 million to the Children and Families 
Capital Programme are included in the Children & Families Capital Programme 
2019/20 Update report presented to Cabinet elsewhere on this agenda.

Highways

48.Details of a proposed increase of £4.5 million to the Highways Capital 
Programme are included in the A38/A419 Whitminster Roundabout Bridges and 
Canal Improvements report presented to Cabinet elsewhere on this agenda.

49. It is proposed that Cabinet support an increase of £1.147 million in the Highways 
capital budget, funded by the following additional resources: 

 £0.993 million additional DfT Pothole Fund Grant. 
 A reduction of £0.023 million as the DfT Incentive Fund Grant allocation was 

slightly less than anticipated despite getting maximum score.
 £0.150 million transfer from the C&I reserve which relates to income from 

Boots Corner camera enforcement to cover 2018/19 overspends on 
Cheltenham Transport Plan.  

 £0.024 million developer contribution towards RTPI at Cam and Dursley 
Station and other stops in Cam. 

 £0.003 million developer contribution towards cycle parking at Cam and 
Dursley.

50. It is proposed that Cabinet support the following budget allocations from the 
existing approved budget for carriageway resurfacing:

 £0.455 million towards a new scheme to resurface the A435 Evesham 
Road, Gotherington to Pamington Road Junction.

 £0.304 million towards a new scheme to resurface Speech House Road to 
the junction of Fancy Road.

 £0.450 million increase in the A4019 Uckington to Stoke Road scheme, 
increasing the budget from £0.250 million to £0.700 million. This increase is 
necessary as in-year deterioration means that we have to do both sides of 
the dual carriageway and address an identified SCRIM site (SCRIM is poor 
surface friction meaning the road had become polished).

Overall

51.As a result of the above changes, the overall capital programme will increase by 
£1.353 million.

Page 82


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 One Public Estate
	One Public Estate Overview Presentation

	 Information Items
	End May 19 June Forecast  OSMC 31 July 19


